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1 .  'l'hc dcl2ncla11t in thc pscscnt casc is idc~~tificd as fbllo\\s: 

a. Namc: I<udolfo Alvcs Corrcia aka "Adolli)" 

b. Date of birth: January 1956 

c. Location of birth: Lclti Lakuana, District of Ailcu 

d. Current residencc: Village of IIera, Subclistsict of 11~1.~2, Ilistsict 

oCDili 

d. Stalus: Married. Seven chilclrcn 

e. Occupation: Farmcr. Former TNI soldier 

2. The trial of the defendant before the Special Panels for Serious Crimes 

began on 23 June 2004 and concluded on 19 July 2004. 

3. The Special Panels rendered its verdict and sentence on 19 April 2005 and 

entered the following final judgment on 25 April 2005. 

11. THE SPECIAL PANELS FOR SERIOUS CRIMES 

4. The Special Panels for Serious Crimes were established within the Dili 

District Court to exercise that Court's exclusive jurisdiction over serious 

crimes occurring in 1999, including genocide, war crimes, crimes against 

humanity, murder sexual offenses and torture.' Moreover, the existence of 

' See;"Il. Serious Criminal Offences," Sections 4 through 9 of UNTAET Regulation No. 2000/15. See also 
section 9 ("Exclusive Jurisdiction for Serious Crimes") of UNTAET Regulation No. 2000/1 1 as amended; 
Section I ("Panels with Jurisdiction over Serious Criminal Offences") of UNTAET Regulation NO. 
2000/15. We note that Section 2.3 (c) of Law No. 10/2003 of Timor-Leste provides that the "regulations 
and other legal instruments from UNTAET, as long as these are not repealed" shall continue to serve as 
part of the applicable law. 



~nisctl 13aliels 0 1 '  i~ntion~tl and international J~lclgcs to hcas scsious C S ~ I I I C S  

c;lscs is I-ccognizcd i n  Section I 0 3 . 1  01' thc Constiti~tioll ol''1'imos-I .cstc. 

Ill. PHOCISI)(!IIAL I~I\CK(:IIOIJNI) AS IIEQUIREI) 11Y 'I'IICP SISC. 

39.3(b) 

5 .  On 25 Scptcinber 2003, the I'ublic I'rosccutor prcscntcd an indictmcnt to 

thc S~ec ia l  Panels for Serious Criillcs pursuant to Scclion 24.1 of 

UN'TAE1' Regulation 2000130, as amended by Reg. 2001125 (Transitional 

Rulcs ol' Crirninal I'roccdure, hereinafter "TRCP"), charging Rudoll'o 

Alves Corrcia aka "Aclolfo" with one count of n~urdcr as a criinc against 

humanity for thc ltilling ol' Domingos Nu Nu ~ l v e s . ~  

6. On 4 Dccclnber 2003, a judge of the Special Panels conducted a 

Preliminary Hearing that was attended by the Defendant who was 

represented by court-appointed counsel. (Appointed counsel has 

represented the Defendant at every stage of the proceedings against him.) 

At the time of the hearing, the Defendant asked the Prosecutor to clarify 

the indictmcnt, which referred to one "Antonio Pinto aka Antonio B" as a 

co-participant. The Defendant alleged that Antonio Pinto and Antonio B 

wcre two different persons. The Court ordered the Prosecutor to clarify the 

issue within ten days. 

7. On 23 January 2004, the Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss the 

indictment substantially based on the lack of specificity in the indictment 

with respect to identify of Antonio Pinto and Antonio B. 

8. On 16 February 2004, the Prosecutor who was then assigned to the case 

filed a response and a Motion to Amend the indictment in which she asked 

' The Court has adopted the spelling of tile victim's middle name as contained in the indictment. 
Nonetlieless, i t  notes that the name is set out on his gravestone as "Dorningos Nonu Alves." See Exhibit J 
in the Case File at p. 178. 



Lo rc'l'lacc. i l l  ~ X W ; I ~ ~ ; I P ~ I S  1.3 : I I I ~  14 ol' tllc i~~clictmcnt. the namc ol' co -  

~x~~'ticilxuit "iinlonio I'inlo aka iintonio B or blai~tcrsn" lo rend sinil,ll 

"/\~iloliir) 13 aka h~l~lutcrsn." 

0.  On 2 b\/larch 2004, a judge oS the Special Panels cicnicd the DcScnclnnt's 

blotion to Dismiss and allowed the 1'rosecutor's'Motion to Amend. ('I'hc 

I'rosccutor clicl not si~bscclucntly file an amended iizdictmcnt. Noncthclcss, 

alter allowing thc Motion to Amend, the Court has trcatccf the original 

indictment as if the nanlc "Antonio l'into alia Antonio I3" in thc original 

test had bccn rcplaced by "Antonio D alta Mautersa.") 

10. On 23 Ji111e 2004 the Delendant came before the Court and his trial 

commenced. I-Ie chose to malie no statement but did rcmark, "Because 1 

have done nothing wrong I cannot male any statement now." Immediately 

aftcr the trial began, counsel for the DeFendant presented a written Motion 

Requiring the Prosecutor to Specify the Precise Category of Individual 

Criminal Responsibility upon which the prosecution intended to rely. The 

motion was filed pursuant to TRCP Section 27.2. 

I I .  After consideration, the panel declined to hear the motion, essentially on 

the ground that it alleged a defect in the form of the indictment, which 

rendered it a preliminary motion pursuant to TRCP Sec. 27.l(a). 

Accordingly, the panel concluded that the motion had not been timely 

filed. Although TRCP Sec. 27.2 allows a party to file a motion "at any 

time," the rule contains an exception in the case of preliminary motions, 

which must be heard "prior to the commencement of the trial." As the 

motion was filed after trial had already commenced, it was thus filed late 

and could not be considered. 

12. 111 declining to consider the motion, the panel also stated in open court that 

the Defendant was not prejudiced in any way by the form of the 



indict~l~c.~i[ bc.c:l~~sc. i t  co~itni~~ccl n dcscl.iption 01' cacl~ cutc~gor~. ol' co~lcl~~cl 

bj .  \\ llicll a dcl'cliduni coulcl hc consiclcl.cd i~~dividi~ally rcsl~o~isiblc !;)I. a n  

ol'Scnsc. ~ ~ I c ~ I ~ ~ o v ~ I ~ .  the inciictnlcnt clcnrly statcd that t l~c  Ilckndant's 

crinli~inl responsibility was b;~sccl 011 his allcgccl sti~tcmcnt to i\lltonio 13 

aka Mn~~tcrsa to shoot Domingos N u  Nu Alvcs i n  the Iicad. As those lricts 

wcrc disclosed in thc inctictmcnt and rcl'errcd to in Count Onc, i t  was not 

consiclcrcd significant that thc indictment sct out the cntirety of Section 

14.3 of IIN'I'AIZ'r Regulation 2000115 with respect to the Dcfe'cndant's 

indiviclual criminal responsibility. On the other hand, the Court dicl 

consiclcr significant thc Sac1 that the recitation conlaincd Section 14.3(b), 

which states that a pcrson shall be criminally responsible as an individual 

if he "orders, solicits or induces the con~mission of such a crinle which in 

fact occurs or is attempted." 

13. The I'rosccutor presented the testimony 01 several witnesses during tlic 

first two clays of trial, namely: Paulo Pinto, Domingos Soares de Jesus and 

Maria Dias da Costa. The first two witnesses werc companions 01 

Domingos Nu Nu Alves at the time of the shooting. The last witness was 

the victim's widow. 

14. On 24 June 2004, the Prosecutor filcd a Motion for Judicial Notice to be 

Taken of Adjudicated Facts and Admission of Evidence. The Defendant 

filed a written opposition and the Court took the request under advisement. 

15. Also on 24 June 2004, the Prosecutor informed the Court that new 

information had come to her attention concerning the facts of the case. She 

requested that the trial be suspended to permit her office to conduct a 

further investigation into the matter. The Defendant had no objection and 

the trial was suspended. 



10. 0 1 1  19 .1i11!. 2004. the p ~ ~ n c l  rcco~~\.cncd :uicl rcndcrccl its Ilccision 011 1111' 

I'rc>sccuto~.'s illolio11 Ii>r .ludici:~l Noticclllnd !\tl~l~issic~~i 01' I ~ ~ \ ~ i i l c ~ ~ c c .  'l'llc 

Co~11.t issuccl n Ibi~r (4) pngc \\.riltcn clccision in \vIiich i t  inclicutccl th;lt 

tl~cl-c is no s~ec i l i c  1)ro~isioll in the '1'I:CI' ol' thc 1ndo11csi:ln Coilc 01' 

Crimin:~I Procedure (ICCI') that permits thc taking of judicial noticc 01' 

facts previously adjudicrltcd in othcr procecdings.',l'lic decision noted that 

this is unlilic the situation in othcr j~irisdictions, ?uch as thc International 

Criminal 'I'ribunal lor the 170nner Yugoslavia (ICTY) wherc Rulc 94 

specilically allows such a procccture. 

17. Thc Court notcd that in Prosecutor v. Dami5io da Costa Nuncs, Casc No. 

0112003, anotl~cr panel had admitted previously adjudicatccl Ihcts under 

the discretionary provision contained in TRCP Scc. 34.1, which broadly 

permits the Court to "admit and consider any cvidcncc that it deems 

rclevanl and has probative value with rcgard to issues in dispute." Noting 

that this provision was permissive and not mandatory, thc Court elcctcd 

not to admit in evidence previously adjudicated facts, noting that more 

direct evidence was available. Accordingly, the Court denied the 

Prosecutor's motion on the issue of judicial notice, but allowed the portion 

requesting admission in evidence o r  four documents, being the "Report of 

the International Commission of Inquiry on East Timor," the "Report on 

the Situation of I-Iuman Rights in East Timor" presented to thc Secretary 

General, the "Report of the High Commissioner for Human Rights" on the 

situation in East Timor and the "Report of the Indonesian Conlmission on 

Human Rights Violations" in East Timor. 

18. During the course of the trial, in addition to the testimony of the witnesses, 

the Prosecutor presented the following pieces of evidence which were 

marlted as exhibits by the presiding judge: 



b. lisl~ibir I3 Sccond clingsam showing location ol'c\rcnls 134 \\ itness 

llomingos Soarcs dc .Icsus. 

c. Ishibit C. I). E and F Four reports concerning tile situation in 

East Tilllor dcscribcd in paragraph 17, above. 

cl. Ilxhibit G Crime Sccnc Rcport dated 17 Junc 2003 by Crimc 

Sccnc Of'ficcr Janlcs Bcll. 

c. Exhibit 1-1 Autopsy Report of presumed deceased Dolningos 

Nuno Alves by Forcnsic Pathologist D. N. McAuliff'e, MD dated 

6 September 2003. 

f. Exhibit I Forensic Anthropology Report of Forensic 

Anthropologist Caroline Balter dated 22 September 2003. 

g. Exhibit J Series of photographs of the grave and alleged remains 

oFof Domingos Nuno Alves. 

h. Exhibit K .  Witness Statement of Luis Albano dated 10 July 

2004. 

19. Following the introduction in evidence of Exhibits H through K on 19 July 

2004, the Prosecutor stated that the information contained therein tended 

to negate the guilt of the Defendant. Consequently, she moved to 

withdraw the indictment against him. The Defendant did not object to the 

Prosecutor's request. 



20. 111 I'LIIII~cI. S L I I J ~ O I . [  01. I I C ~  rcqi~csL. [Iic I'SOSCC~I[OI. ~ S C S C I I L C ~  :IS :i \ \  i[~lcss 

I INI'OI, 0l'licc.r R~lmil I,nb;~stid;~ \\ Ilo Iincl cunduclccl all in\'csli~a[io~i itlio 

thc icic.nlilica[ion ol' thc rcnlnins oi' tlic clc.cc:~sccl Doniingos Nu Nu I \ I V C S  

cli~rilig (lit ;~i!jo~~rlirncn~ 01'111~ trial. 

2 1 .  The prcsicling Judgc indicated that thc pancl wou1.d take under adviscmcnt 

the Prosecutor's oral motion to withdraw thc inclictmcnt. 

22. 'fhc trial continued and the Defendant offcred no evidence and clcctcd not 

to makc a statement to the Court. The presiding judge invitcd thc 

I'roscci~lor and co~rnsel for the Dcfendruit to nialte their closing arguments 

in the event that tlie Court sl~ould deny the Prosecutor's rcqucst lo 

withdraw tlie indicttnent. 

23. Following a succession of continuances, on 19 April 2005, tlie Court 

reco~lvei~ed in public session attended by the Defendant and his attorney. 

At the outset the Court announced that it was denying the Prosecutor's 

oral motion to withdraw the indictment, having concluded that there was 

sufficient evidence to convict the Defendant. Accordingly, tlie Court 

issued its written Disposition re la tin^ to the Conviction of the Defenclant 

Rudolfo Alves Correia and ruled that it fo~~ncl  the Defendant guilty. 

Pursuant to TRCP Sec. 39.1, the Court qualified the crime for which the 

Defendant was responsible as an attempt to commit murder as a crime 

against humanity. 

24. After the verdict was announced, the Prosecutor and counsel for the 

Defendant were both given the opportunity to address the Court on the 

issue of sentencing. Thereafter, the Court recessed for the panel to 

deliberate with respect to the imposition of a sentence. Later on 19 April 

2005, tlie Court issued its written Disposition Relating to the Sentencing 

of the Defendant Rudolfo Alves Correia at a public session attended by the 



L)cl>nd;in[ :111d his a[tor~lcj. I'hc Court imposccl :I prisnll sc~i[c~lcc' 01' I ? \  i. 

( 5 )  ! C;II.S co~l~~i~i[[cci .  \\ it11 tlic sc~itc~icc lo 11cgi11 inin~clIi:~[cl! . 

25. 011 25 i l p r i l  2005, tlic Court dclivcrcd its linal writtcn dccis io~~ at n public 

scssiun attcndcd by thc Defclldarlt and his attorney. 

26. lntcrprctcrs in English and Tctlum assisted before thc Court at every stagc 

of thc procccdings. 

IV. FINDINGS OF FACT BY TIIE COURT 

A. Facts Proved as required by 'f1ICY See. 39.3(c) 

27. Considering all the credible evidence presented at trial and the reasonable 

inferences that can be drawn therefrom, the Special Panel concli~cles that 

the following facts have been proved beyond a reasonablc doubt: 

28. For centuries, East Timor was a colony of Portugal. On 28 Novc~nbcr 

1975, independence supporters in the capital city of Dili proclaimed the 

establishment of the Democratic Republic of Timor Leste. Shortly 

thereafter, on 7 December 1975, the armed forces of the Republic of 

Indonesia invaded East Timor and eventually declared East Timor to be 

its 27th province. 

29. Between 1975 and 1999 the supporters of East Timorese independence 

continued to pursue their efforts through a variety of political and military 

means. During that period, various groups maintained a continuous 

guerilla presence in the countryside with widespread support from the 

population. 



30. On 27 .lan~inry 1000. (lie I'i~csiclc~i~ of Inclonesin nnnoiiiicccl t h i ~ t  tl1cl.i' 

\\.oulcl be ;I S C ~ > S C I I C I ~ ~ ~ ~ ~  i l l  \ v I i i ~ I 1  tlic P C O I ~ I C  01' 1:;1st l 'i~ilor coiilcl \.otc 

\vlic~lici to rcninin I X I S ~  01' Inclo~~csin ;IS an ai~tonomoiis province. 

3 1 .  On 5 May 1099, the go\zcrnmcnts oSIndoncsia and I'ortiigal along with the 

United Nations agrcccl to tlic liolciing of a pop;tlar consultation in East 
* - I imor to clctcnninc wlictlicr the pcoplc wislicd to rcmain part of Intloncsia 

as an autonomous region. In the pcriod Icading up to tlic votc thcsc was a 

widespread and systcniatic can~paign by Indoncsinn military and police 

ai~tlioritics, along wit11 l'imorcse militia whom they supportctl, to usc Sorcc 

and violencc to supprcss independence supportcrs and to promotc 

autonomy. 

32. The popular consultation on the autonomy issue was held ~~nclcr UN 

auspices 011 30 A ~ ~ g u s t  1999. Voting was heavy throughout the co~untry. 

33. On 4 September 1999, the United Nations announced that 78.5% of those 

participating in the referendum had indicated their support for 

indcpcndence by rejecting the autonomy option. 

34. Immediately thereafter, militia supporters of autonomy, assisted by the 

Indonesian military and police, launched a renewed wave of widespread 

and systematic violence against the civilian population. In addition to 

committing acts of murder,' rape and torture against supporters of 

independence, pro-Indonesian forces forcibly deported or relocated a large 

part of the local population to West Timor. The entire campaign was part 

of a coordinated attempt to disrupt the peacef~~l resolution of East Timor's 

status and to prevent the implementation of the results of the popular 

consul tation. 



-7 - 
23. O n  0 Scl'tc~nbcr 1099. r \ \  o d a j  s ~~ l ' t c ' r  thc a1ilioilllcclllc'lII 01'  the ~.cIc'i C I ~ L I ~ I I , ~  

rcsu 11s. I ' L I L I ~ O  I'into, I lo~il in~os SO;II.L'~ ~ l c '  .~CSLIS ; ~ I I C I  Dolili llgos L'LI N L I  

; \ I \  cs ~:~ll~c 'rcd at I'into's Ilousc i n  I lcra Village, c:ist of' I l i l i .  All tl l~c'c '  

L\ c1.c si~l~l~ortcrs  oI' inclc~~c11cIc11~~. 

36. Tlic mc~iibcrs of their rcspcctivc Samilics had Ilcrl, to the hills above I-Icra, 

as had many local indcpcnclcncc supporters, to cscapc thc violencc k i n g  

pcrl7ctmtccl throughout East Timor by Indoncsian mililnry and policc 

forces, as well as by pro-autonomy militia lorces. 

37. The three me11 who had assenibled at Pinto's house wcrc gathering 

clothes, food, livcstoci< and other itenls to take to their thmilies and othcr 

independence supporters hiding outside I-Iera. 

38. In the cvcning, thrcc soldicrs armed with rifles and wearing green military 

uniSornis entered Pinto's house without warning. They wcre RudolSo 

Alves Correia aka Adolfo, Antonio B alta Mautersa and a person named 

Mario. All three werc Timorese members of thc Indoncsian armcd forces 

(Tenlcrv~~ Nasionul Indonesia or TNI). 

39. The Defendant, Rudolfo Alves Corrcia, and the othcr two soldiers sho~ltcd 

at the three men, telling thein not to run away. Each of the soldiers was 

carrying an AR-15 rifle, which was the type of weapon carried by 

members of TNl Battalion 745 headquartered in Lautern ~is t r ic t .?  

40. As a TNI soldier, the Defendant used to stand guard at the Polytechnic 

School in Hera. The students at the school were involved in political 

protests and soldiers would be sent there to chase then1 away. As a soldier 

3 There was evidence that the three soldiers [nay have had something to drink beforehand. Nonetheless, 
there was no indication that they were drunk and the Defendant has not raised any defense based on 
intoxication pursuant to Section 19.l(b) of UNTAET Regulation 2000l15. In any  event, thc Court 
concludes that silcli a defense could not be supported on this factual record. 



rllc i)cl>tldatir also I \ c l ~  \\atcli on ~i~ctiil~css ol'tlic ci\.iliati ~~ol~i~la t io t i  a r ~ ~ l  

maclc :~~.~.csts \\hen ncccssnl-J, 10 cnsurc t l in t  pcoplc. dicl not Ilcc to [ I I C  

~ n o u ~ ~ t : ~ i n s  or assist incicpcncic~icc supportcss \vho \\ere loc:~tcd tlicre. 

4 I . ?'lie [)cICnd;l~lt ;lnd tlic otlicr 'IN I s0lc1i~1.s colifi.ontcd thc tl11.c~ 111~11 ;111~1 

askccl uhnt thcy were doing. In order to avoid suspicion, they said that 

they had come to the housc to get thcir pigs ancl goats to go to Atambua, 

tlic destination in West Timor L'or niany of tliosc who wcrc compcllccl to 

lcavc ljast Tirnor by the military, police and militia forccs opposing 

indcpcndcncc. Domingos Soarcs dc Jesus had a large swclc of clothes with 

him. Whcn qucstioncd by thc Defendant about his bag lie insistcd that hc 

was also preparing to go to Atambua. 

42. Thc Dcl'cndant then accused all three of lying and stated that they had 

c o ~ ~ l c  to tllc house to prcparc food For the mcmhcrs o l  PI<BI'II.IN%~CI 

othcr indcpendencc supporters in the mountains. The Del'endant seized the 

nlachetes that Pinto, Jesus and Alves carried and then started to punch and 

kick all tlircc. (At some point the machetes were distributed among the 

three soldiers, with the Defendant lteeping Pinto's, Mario receiving the 

machete of Jesus and Mautersa lteeping the one belonging to Alves.) 

43. The other two TNI soldiers followed the Defendant's lead and also began 

to grab at the three men, kicking them and beating them up. (Later, when 

Jesus fled to the mountains, he was still bleeding from the beating.) The 

soldiers then forced all three men out of the house at gunpoint. At some 

point during the events the Defendant said to the other soldiers "Let's go 

and burn the house." After everyone was outside, the Defendant set fire to 

the house. 

' FRETILIN is an acronym for "Frente Revolucionaria de Timor-Leste Independente." Both Pinto and 
Dotningos Soares dc Jesus testified that they had indeed supported FRETILIN by supplying food to them 
and other independence suppol-ters in the mountains. 



4-1 i\Iicl- Ica\ing t11c liousc tllc tI11.c~ psiso~lc'ss \\CI-C I ~ I S C C ~  to \\;111\ to\\,\~il ,1 

IIC:IS~J!, I i \  cs. LVIICII (I~cy ~11.1 i~lccl :it the rivcs the Dclk11~1a11t c l i s c l ~ ~ ~ s ~ c ~ l  '1 

\ \ a~ning shot that scared the three psisoucrs. The psisoncss wcrc thcn told 

to line up ant1 tile DcSundnnt told tlic othus two I'NI soldicss "Just t:~l\c 

thcnl doivn these," apparently rcfcssing to a road,that was appsosimntcly 

one I\ilomctcr away from whcrc they wcrc standing. 

45. Whcn they rcachcd thc road, the three prisoners were maclc to stand in a 

linc along thc length oS the roacl. Each of the prisoners was guru-clcd by one 

soldies. I'aulo I'into was at the end oP the line, guardccl by Mario. I n  thc 

nliddlc was Llo~~~ingos Soares de Jesus with the Defendant. At the li.ont 

was Donlingo Nu Nu Alves next to Mautcrsa. 

46. Thc Del'cl-tdant loudly shoutcd a phrase in Bahasa to Mautcrsa that literally 

translates "pilt it in the head" but which lneans "shoot him in the head." 

According to Paulo Pinto, "Mr. Rudolfo is the one who ordered 

[Mautersa] to 

47. Mautcrsa then took his rifle, pointed it at Alves and shot. Alves fell down 

and in thc ensuing confi~sion Pinto ran away. As lle did so the Defendant 

and Mario fired several shots at him, but missed. 

48. After Pinto ran away, the Defendant and Mautersa told Jesus, the 

remaining prisoner, that Alves "was a dog that died."6 At a point Jesus 

was also able to run away. 

5 Public Hearin(. Record of 23 June 2004 (Morning Session) at p. lO."Pinto went on to say "as soon as he 
said that, the gun was shot. Ibid at p. 13. 

" Public I-learine Record of  23 June 2004 (Afternoon Session) at p. 3 and p. 6. 



40. I'i~~ro a ~ l ~ l  .lcsus I.:in up illto llic 11l.ountains \vlicsc 11ic~' 1i)1111~1 hl;l~.i;l I1i;ls (1;1 

Gosh. tllc \\:iI> 01. !\l\.cs. 'Flicy [olcl Iicr tli:lt 11cs l i~~s l~ :~~ic l  l l : ~ l  l7cc11 l , i l l ~ ~ l .  

T\IO clu!,s Iatcl., Pinlo nncl Casla ~ x t ~ ~ r n c d  to \vlicrc t l~c sllooting Ii:~tl 

occurrccl nncl l i ~ u n d  lhc \,iclim's l ~ o d y  l)fing on tlic ro:ld. 

7 50. Tlic body of' the victim appcarcd lo havc becn bulnccl in 13;1rt ant1 tlic 

t o n g ~ ~ c  liacl becn cut 0111 of 11i:s rnoi~lll .~ '['he viclini's widow aucl hcr 

companions took the victim's body to the mountains to bury him. IIc was 

busiccl with several personal el'l'ccts including a parlicular ring, in a gravc 

locatcd near the house of Luis Albano, approximately five Itilomctcrs from 

IIera Village. 

On 11 September 2000, the relatives of the victim exhumed his bocly for 

reburial in the I-Iera Cemetery. By this date there were only slceletal 

remains, but the personal effect:; of the victim, inclucling his ring, werc 

still present. The victim's bones were kept overnight in the house of Luis 

Albano in Mota Kik village to offer prayers for the deceased prior to 

reburial. The next day the remains of the victim were placed in a cement 

burial vault located in his familly's plot at the cemetery in I-Iera Village. 

The family buricd additional personal effects with the deceased, including 

his wedcling ring. 

' There is insufficient evidence concerning the extent of the burning for the Court to make a specific 
finding in this regard. We note that the absence of any reference in the autopsy report to burn damage on 
the skeletal rernains o f  the victim indicates that any such burning was likely superficial in nature. 

Evidence froln other sources indicated several other injuries that may not have been visible at that time. 
In thq statement of Luis Albano, admitted in evidence as Exhibit K, Albano states that he saw the body 
before: the initial burial and noted a wound on the left side of the abdomen. The Autopsy Report by 
Forensic Pathologist D. N. McAuliffe, MD dated 6 September 2003 and marked Exhibit H states that the 
skeletal remains of the deceased evidence massive destruction of the scapula and fracture of underlying 
ribs, which the pathologist interpreted as "a combination of major penetrating and blunt force trauma." The 
Forensic Antliropology Report of Caroline Baker dated 22 September 2003, marked as Exhibit I ,  confirms 
those injuries and indicates that all of them were "consistent with an origin of pel-imortem trat~ma," 
meaning that they occurred around the tirne of the victim's death. 



52. 011 13 .1i11y 2004. IINI'OI. Ol'liccs Ramil I.ab:tsticl:~ cc~nc\~~cicct a n  

in\ ,csti~:it io~~ conccsnillg lllc rcnlilins ol' Do i~~ insos  Nu Nu i\l\.cs. In iloiilil 

so. he ~-ctr:~ccd ~ I I C  steps tilIi~11 \\.ill1 rcspcct to t11c bi~rial. cxlii~ill;lti~i~ ;111d 

su[>sccli~cnt rcbi~ri~ll 01' the victim. I-Ic also spoke lo numerous witnesses 

who attc~~clcd hot11 burials and was able to confirm thc co~ltiniiily 01' tllc 

skclctal rcmains. I-Ic noted that the itcms buried with the body at tlic Iisst 

site were all rccovercd at the exhumation aucl that niany of' tlicm, d o n s  

with solnc additional items, were later reburied with thc victim's sltcletal 

remains at the permanent gravesite in I-Iera. 

53. A11 examination of the sl<clctal rcmains of thc victim in 2003 disclosccl no 

gi~nsllot wound to the skull.' 

54. The cause of the victim's dcath as set out in the Autopsy Report is 

"lioniiciclal violcncc," with thc mnllncr oT dcath bcing clcscribcd as 

"homiciclc." 

B. Facts Not Proved as required by TRCP Sec. 39.3(c) 

55. Considering all the credible evidence presented at trial and the reasonable 

inferences to be drawn therefrom, the Special Panel concludes that thc 

following facts havc not been proved beyond a reasonable doubt: 

56. The shot fired by Mautersa struck Alves in the head and killed him. 

57. The specific cause, manner or means by which the death of Alves was 

bsoi~glit about. l 0  

" The injuries described in botll the Autopsy Report and the Forensic Anthropology Report exclude any 
reference to a head wound. bloreover, the photographs of  the victim's skeletal remains introduced in 
evidence as part of Eshibit J plainly show an intact skull. See, Case File at pp. 185-1 86. 



59. 11s establislicd in IJNTAET Regulation No. l999J I ,  IJN'I'AE'I' Regulation 

No. 2000/1 1 ,  as amendcd by UNTALY1' Regulation No. 200 1/25), ancl 

UNT/\IYI' Rcgulatiou No. 2000/15, thc Spccial l'ancls Sor Scrious Crimcs 

shall apply thc following: 

(a) 'Shc laws of East Tinlor as promulgated by Scctions 2 and 3 of 

IJNI'AE7' Regulation No. 1999/1; 

(b) Any subsccluent UNTAET regulations and dircctivcs; 

(c) Thc laws applied in East Timor prior to 25 Octobcr 1999 (until 

replaced by UNTAET Regulations or subsequent legislation) 

insofar as they do not conflict with internationally recognized 

11~11nan rights standards, the iillfilln~ent of thc mandatc given to 

IJNTAET under the United Nations Security Council Resolution 

1272 (1999), or UNTAET regulations or directives. Law 10/2003 

of the National Parliament clarified that the law applicable in East 

Timor prior to 25 October 1999 was Indonesian law, a fact 

previously held by the'special Panels in the case of Prosecutor v. 

Joao Sarmento and Domingos Mendonca (Decided 24 July 2003); 

(d) Applicable treaties and recognized principles and norms of 

international law, including the established principles of 

international law of armed conflict. 

I U  Tlie Autopsy Report docs  state that the cause of death was "homicidal violence" and the manner  of death 
was ..lio~nicide." Also, nulnerous illjuries to the body are  noted in the report. Regardless, the specific cause, 
manner o r  means by which the homicide of Alves was brought about is not stated. 



( c )  S ~ l ~ s ~ c l i ~ c ~ i t  I; I I \S  01' dc~iiocs;lli~dl! cs~;ll~lisllc'cl ins[itutions 01' 

'l'inios-Lcstc. 'So thc cstcnl that s i~ch laws applj. i l l  a p;li-li~i11;1s C;~SC 

ant1 sc~".cx~"t ;I ~ l i a ~ i g c  I'soni ~ I . C V ~ O L I S  la\v, tlic laiv mosc I.;lvol.ablil 

to tlic Defendant shall apply, as stated in Scctiou 3.2 of IIN'I'Al1 I '  

I<cgi~lntion No. 2000/15. 

VI. 1,RGAL AN11 FACTUAL GIIOUNIIS AS REQUIRED BY TRCP SEC. 

39.3((1) 

A. Indiviclual criminal responsibility 

60. Section 14 of UNTAET Regulation No. 2000115 scts out the paranlctcrs of 

indiviclual criminal responsibility. In relevant part it statcs: 

14.3 In c~ccorcicroce with the present regzllation, a person shall be 

crinzinczlly re~pon~ible and liable for pzlni.shment for a crime within the 

juris~lic f ion of the pcme1.s if fhcrt person: 

(b) O~-cler.s, solicits or inchces (he commi.s.sion of szich u crime 

which in firel  occur.^ or is attenzpte~l. 

61. Consequently, pursuant to Section 14.3(b) of UNTAET Regulation No. 

2000115, a person can be individually responsible for a crime even if he 

did not personally commit the offense, provided that he "orders, solicits or 

induces" its commission.'l This is true whether the crime "in fact occurs 

or is attempted." 

" See Prosecutor v. Francisco Dos Santos Laku, Case No. 08/2001 (Decided 25 July 2001) in which the 
Court ruled at page 1 1  tlhat "even if [the defendant] was not the main perpetrator of the murder, he ordered 
the murder, [and] thereby his individual responsibility is met in Sect. 14.3(b) of UR-2000/15." (In & the 
defendant was a Ti~not-ese member of the TNI who had ordered militia inernbers to kill an independence 
supporter.) See also Deputy Prosecutor General for Serious Crimes v. Anton Lelan Sufa, Case No. 4a12003 
(Decided 25 November 2004) at par. 12 in which the Court found that the defendant, who was a niilitia 



13. Scope of' tile ~>h:-:~sc "01-tlct-, solicits ot- intluccs" 

62. Wc Iirst note that llic phrase "oscicrs. solicits or induces" is li,~mcd 

dissjuncti\ cly ratlicr than co11.junctivcly. Conscqi~cntly, a cIcll.11clant is 

csimi~inlly responsiblc Sol- an offense committed by anothcr so long as the 

dcfknclant pcrrorms any one of the thscc actions described in Scction 

14.3(b). I t  is thus not necessary to establish that hc ordered, solicitccl and 

induccd anothcr to commit a crime for him to bc individually responsiblc. 

63. Accorclingly, the gravamen 01 the o~fcnsc clescribcd in Section 14.3(b) is 

Lllal a clcfendanl nlusl eilgage in conclucl by which he seeks LO cause 

another to comnlit a crime. It is not necessary to prove that the accused 

himself comnlitted the crime or participated in its commission. I<athcr, it 

is only necessary to prove that the defcnclallt ordered, solicilecl or induced 

its commission or  attcmpted commission by another. 

64. The threc terms used in the statute describe different levcls of instigation 

by which a defendant may urge another to commit a crime. 

Order - The first term stated in the regulation, "order," refers to a n  action 

in which an accused commands another to commit a particular crime. 

Although orders are most commonly issued in a military setting, there is 

no indication in the regulation' that it was intended to apply only in those 

circ~lmstances. Indeed, even outside the military context it is possible for 

one person to order another to do something, including the commission of 

a crime, in circumstances where the person issuing the command has 

member, acted on instructions from a village chief and ordered other militia members to kill several 
independence supporters. At pars. 16 and 17, the Court ruled that the defendant ordered the members of his 
militia gl.oup to colnliiit ~ i i ~ ~ r d e r  "knowing tliey would follow his orders and were able and sufficiently 
armed to do so [and tl1erefo1.c he] bears individual cr.iminal responsibility according to Sec. 14.?(b)." 



rcasoll IO hclic\.c 111~11 his \vosds \ \ . i l l  hc ol~c.!~ccl." 11s ~ i o t c ~ l  ~ c I c I \ \ . .  \\ l~ctllc~. 

or no[ an tllc rc~i~la t ion  call ;q>l?ly to o s d c i ' s $ \ ~ c ~ ~  in n ci\rilinn contest is 

irsclc\~ant i n  111~' C ~ I ~ C L I I I I S ~ ; ~ I I C C S  01'111~ I ~ ~ C S C I I ~  CLISC. 

Solicit - 71'hc sccoild term usccl i n  thc regulation is "solicits." \\~llich 

gcncr;llly denotes a less emphatic form of conduct than an "orclcr." In 

criminal tcrms, solicitatiou is an ofl'cnse that also rcachcs concluct by 

which one cncouragcs, cnticcs or rccli~csts another to commit a crimc. 

Consistcnt wit11 this vicw is the Modcl Pcnnl Code, which dcfines 

solicitation as c~lcouragi~lg or rcqucsting another pcrson to cng;lgc in 

concluct that constit~~tes a crimc or an attempt to conlmit a crimc, with the 

i ~ ~ l c ~ l t  Llial Lhe crilnc bc comnlillccl. Moclel Pcnal Codc, Scc. 5.02(1) 

( 1  962). 

Inclucc - The Iinal tcrnl is thc nlost comprchensivc of thc thrce in that it 

rcfers to a widc spcctrum of actions intended to producc or bring about a 

particular result. In that sensc it subsumcs the previous two terms, as both 

orders and solicitations can be said to induce thc results that they scek to 

achicvc. Nonetheless, to inducc a particular result does not necessarily 

require an order or a solicitation and can be brought about through less 

demanding mcans such as persuasion and the use of other forms oS 

influence. 

C. Causation and intent 

65. Regardless of which term best defines a particular defendant's actions, 

criminal responsibility under Section 14.3(b) requires more than a mere 

causal relationship between the actions of a defendant and the resulting 

offense. Even in circumstances where a defendant's action in fact caused 

another to commit a crime or attempt to do so, a defendant can be held 

"See A n t o n  1,elan Sufa a t  n.  10, SIJJXZJ. 



csi111i11:1ll!, ~.cspo~~sihlc onl! i i '  Ilc actccl \\.ill1 the i~itc'llt  Illat tllc 1 . ~ ~ 1 1 l t i l l l 1  
__t= 

criutc' he c o r n ~ ~ ~ i t t c d . ~ ~ ;  \4:crc \\.c to C O I I C I L I C I ~  o t I~cr \v is~ ,  ;1 dc'l211cl;lnt co~lld 

be held scsponsiblc o r  t i c  c s i ~ i i i  actions 01' otlicrs ~ \ . C I I  i l l  

circu~iist:~nccs \\liere tllc dcfL.nclnnt had neithcs tlic intcnt nos a ~.casonnblc. 

cspcctntion I l i ~ l t  his o\vn actions \voulcI Icnci to thc commission 01' thc 

crimc. 

66. l'his view is consistent with the provisions ol' Section 1 S. 1 01' UNrrA151' 

Regulation 2000115, which states that an accusecl shall bc c~iminallp 

I-csponsiblc only if thc luntcrial clemcnts of his crime "arc committccl with 

intcnt and I<nowledgc." As defined in Scction 18.2 of the salllc regulation, 

thc mcaning ol' iiltcnt "in rclatioil to a conscqucncc" is Lhat "a person 

means to causc that consequence or is aware that it will occur in the 

ordinary coursc of events." Similarly, the requirement of  "l<nowlcclge" is 

met whcn a defendant has "awareness that a circumstance cxists or a 

conscqilence will occur it1 the ordinary course of events." 

I). Whettlcr the crime "in fact occurs or is attempted" 

67. The final element that must be established is that the purpose OF the 

defendant's action was the commission of a crime within the jurisdiction 

OF thc Special Panels "which in fact occurs or is attempted." Thus, 

although a defendant must have intended that another person commit a 

particular crime, it is irrelevant whether the other person was successfill in 

the commission of the crime, so long as it was attempted. 

68. An attempt requires more than the mere contemplation of a crime or 

planning of  an offense. Even steps taken in preparation for a crime may 

fall short of an attempt. As stated in Section 14.3(f) of UNTAET 

'' The proof of such intent could be satisfied i n  circumstances where a reasonable person would know or 
have reason to know that his actions were likely to produce the resulting crime, regardless of the subjective 
intent of the pal-ticular acci~sed. 



l < c g ~ i l ; ~ ~ i o ~ ~  3000/ 15. a11 ;l(tc~ill?t to colillllit cl.i~ilc ~~cc~llii~cs ..l;~l\illg actioll 

(hat C O I ~ ~ I ~ ~ ~ I I C ~ S  its ~ S ~ C L I ~ ~ O I ~  I]!. IIIC;~IIS 01' si1I>s1;11iti;11 s tcp. I J L I ~  tllc cl.ill>c 

docs 11ot occilr bcca~lsc 01' circ~~mstanccs incfcpcnclcnt 01' thc person's 

intcntioi~s." In n situation \vlicrc a I J ~ ~ I I ~ ~ I . ; ~ L o ~  t;llics si~cll a S L I I I S L ; I I I ~ ~ ; ~ I  step, 

even thongh the crimc cioes nut occur, a dcli-nctant ~ v h o  orcicscd, solicitccl 

or iiidi~ccd the coni~iiission or the underlying ofl'cnse nonctlieless bears 

crimilial rcsl~onsibility unclcr Scclion 14.3(b) Sor tlic other's atlcnipt. 

. Attcnlpt to commit rnurtler :IS :I crime a ~ a i n s t  humanity 

69. Section 5.1 of UN'TAE'I' Regulation No. 2000/15 sets oilt a niun~ber of' 

criminal oll'enscs Ihal can be clualiiled as cri~ncs againsl liumanity i f '  they 

are "committed as part or a widespread or systenlatic attack and directcd 

against any civilian population, with ltnowlcclgc of the attack." 

Accordingly, when an olrense such as murdcr is committed within this 

context it amounts to murder as a crimc against humanity. & Section 5.1 

(a) of UNTAET Regulation No. 2000/ 1 5. 

70. In Public Prosecutor v. Joni Marques, Case No. 09/2000 (Decided 1 1  

Decen~bcr 2001. "Los Palos Case") the Court addressed the definition of 

murder as a crimc against humanity. In addition to the C ~ L [ I ~ C ( L L L  

requirements of crimes against humanity, the Co~lrt ruled that the 

additional elements of the crime require proof that (a) the victim is dead; 

(b) the perpetrator's act was asubstantial cause of the victim's death; and 

(c) the perpetrator intended to cause the death of the victim or reasonably 

knew that his act was likely to result in the victim's death. l 4  The Court 

I I See Jorli Mat.ques at pars 645-64s. - 



71 As ;I sc.~.ioi~s criniinnl ol'Scnsc contninccl in Scclio11 5.1 01' 1JN l'i\li'l' 

I<egiil:ttion No. 300011 5, murder as a crimc againsl hi~mrunity can bc either 

committccl as provided in Section 14.3 (a) thl-OLI~II (cl) 01' the same 

rcgul:ttion or atte~liptcd as provided in Scction 14.3(1). Accordingly, wlicn 

a person attempts to commit a murdcr as a c r i~nc  against humanity and (1) 

commences the execution of the cr i~nc by taking a substantial step toward 

its accomplishment, and (2) thc crinlc docs not occur bcc~lusc of 

circumstances inclcpcndcnt of that person's intentions, that pcrson 

noncthclcss incurs cri~llinal rcsponsibility undcr Section 14.?(1) lor his 

attcmpl to co~nlnit  the crime.'" 

F. Present Case 

72. Applying the law as stated above to the facts of the present casc, thc 

Defendant bears criminal responsibility for an attempt to n~urcler 

Do~ningos Nu Nu Alves as a crime against humanity. 

73. Although there is no direct evidence that the Defendant either personally 

ltilled the victim or attempted to do so, there is substantial credible 

evidence before the court that he did "order, solicit or induce" the 

commission of such an offense by Mautersa. 

l 5  - Ibid. at par. 639. This view is consistent with the position taken both by the ICTY and the ICTR as set 
out in*.De~uty Prosecutor General for Serious Crimes v. Francisco Pedro, Case No. 0 112001 (Decided 14 
April 2005) at par. 14. 

1 6 See Francisco Pedro at n. 9. In Pedro at par. 15, the Court found that the accused intended to kill the 
victim as part of a systematic attack on the civilian population. The defendant brought the victim to the 
intended place of killing under cover of darkness and had taken "substantial steps" toward completion of 
the crime. Due to the fact that the murder was prevented by the victim's sudden escape, the Court ruled that 
the defendant was g ~ ~ i l t ) ,  of attempted murder as a crime against humanity. 



74. Pi~ito :111d .lcsi~s \\.ere L L I I : I I I ~ I I I ~ L I S  i l l  st:~tillg lI1~1t l11c I ) c I ~ I I ~ I L I ~ I ~  O I ~ C I C I . ~ ~ ~  

hl;~utcrsa to slloot i1l1.c'~ i l l  1l1c hcacl. \\!II~II hc did so Ilc \vas s l ~ o u t i ~ l ~  

loucll~, :111d h~l:~utcrsa immcclintcly complicd. Wc concluclc, that \vhcn tllc 

Dcl2nclant g:l\.c his order he h:~d cvcry rcason to bclic\.c that in tllc 

circumstnnccs R/lnutcrsa would comply and th:lt any  such shot to the hcacl 

woulcl 1x2 Illtal. 

75. Throughout the events of that fic~tefi~l day, thc Dcfcndant operated as thc 

Ict~cler ol' the tlirce TNI soldiers. Altl~ough therc was no eviclencc 

concerning thcir respective ranks, thc Defendant clearly took the Icacl, a 

pattern that culminated in his ordcr to shoot Alves. The Defcnclant 

clircclecl tile cl~lcslioning oC tile viclinl and his fiiends and disarmcd them. 

I-Ie was also the first soldier to assault them, causing the other TNI soldiers 

to join in the attack. After the prisoners had been lcd at gullpoint out of the 

housc, it was the Derendant who stated that thc housc should be burncd 

and then personally set fire to the premises. As the prisoners were 

n~arched toward the river, it was the Defendant who fired a warning shot, 

frightening the men. It was the Defendant who told the other TNI solclicrs 

where to taltc three prisoners, directing them to "Just take them down 

therc." On the road a TNI soldier accompanied each prisoner, with 

Mautersa guarding Alvcs. At that point the Defendant sho~lted to Mautersa 

to slioot Alves in the head. Mautersa immediately took his rifle and shot at 

Alves, who fell to the ground. 

76. In the circumstances, the Defendant had every reason to believe his order 

would be obeyed. Indeed, the speed with which Mautersa complied 

supports the reasonableness of such an expectation. 

77. Even if we were to conclude that the described actions did not constitute 

an "order" within the meaning of Section 14.3(b), we would nonetheless 

conclucle that the Defendant is criminally responsible. This is so because 



:I[ :I ~ l l i ~ l i ~ ~ l u ~ l l  Ilis \\ords C;III l ~ c  co~istr~~ctl ns i~itc'ndillg to solicit 01. i~iducc' 

t l ~ c  co~nlnission (71' ;I crimc tl~at hc l \ n c ~ ~  L'la~~tcrsa Lvas i l i  a position to 

~ lc l~ l~~r l l l .  

78.  hlautcrsa UIIS armccl will1 an AR-15 rillc, a considcr:tblc firearm ~ ~ s c t l  by 

the TNI. Ilc was in close prosimity to the victim and the I>ci'cncl:unt 

dircctcd him to "pul i t  in the head" a phrasc clcarly undcrstuod to mean 

"shoot him in the heact." In those circumslanccs, thc in~cnt oi' the 

Dci'cndant is unquestionable, as he had every reason to belicvc that a s h o ~  

fired at the head of  the victinl at close range would be fatal. Moreover, thc 

evidcncc bcrorc the Court cstablishcs that the Defctldant knew that thc 

r~cLioll against tllc vicliul ancl ~ l lc  olher prisoners was par1 o r  a widcsprcaci 

and systc~llatic attack against a civilian population, qualifying any n~urclcr 

or attcmptcd nlurder corn~nitted in that context as a crimc against 

humanity. 

79. Although Mautersa's shot may very well have struck Alves considering 

that he ini~l~ecliately collapsed, it did not enter his skull, as the subscqucnt 

examination of the victim's sltelelal remains showed no such wound. 

Accordingly, it is clear that whatever Pinto and Jesus thought they saw, 

the bullet li-om Mautersa's gun did not strike the sltull of the victim so as 

to cause a fatal wound in his head.I7 Whether Mautersa's shot grazed 

Although both Pinto and Jesus testified that the bullet struck Alves near the temple, it is doubtful from 
the forensic evidence that either could have seen such an event. Although it may be possible that the bullet 
grazed the sltull of the victim without causing an entry wound that would later be visible, there is no 
forensic or expert evidence before the Court upon which the panel can reach such a conclusion. We note 
that in his testimony Pinto eventually admitted that he did not actually see Mautersa fire the shot. t le  heard 
Mautersa's gun fire and turned around in time to see him lower his rifle. See Public hear in^ Record of 23 
June 2004 (Morning Session) at pp. 18 and 21. On this record, it is as likely as not that the witnesses 
reasonably inferred that the victim suffered a head wound based on the Defendant's shouted order to shoot 
Alves i n  the head, Mautersa's prompt cotnpliance and the victim's immediate collapse. On the other hand, 
with respect to the shot hitting the victim's temple, Jesus testified, "I saw with my own eyes." See Public 
Hearin? Record o f  23 June 2004 (Afternoon Session) at p. 6. Nonetheless, the exact cause of the victim's 
collapse remains unclear and it could equally have been froin a gunshot wound to another part of his body 
or simply from the effects of overwhel~ning fear prompted by a gunshot at close range. Regardless, the 
point is without signiticance to the resolution ofthis matter, as the Defendant bears criminal responsibility 



/\I\.cs 01. st~.ilcli Iii11i clsc\\ 11c1.c ill liis l x ~ l y  is i~~lc lc :~~. .  11i1t illis I L I C ! ~  01' 

cl~~sit!. i l l  t11c c\~i~Icncc docs 110t pro\.c t11:\t hl:~i~tcss:l ilid 1101 i ~ ~ t c l ~ ~ l  to l i i \ \  

him or t l i ~ ~ t  [lie I I c l ~ ~ i ~ l ; ~ ~ i t  c I ~ c I  1101 intend to osdcr his death. Indeed, tl~cy 

botl~ appcarcd Lo hnvc concluded that illvcs was clcnd as tl~cy told .ICSLIS 

 his \\.as 3 dog tllat died." 'I-lie tact that the cvidcncc docs not cs~:~l~lisli 

that thc victitn was in lact dcail docs not aft'ecl'thc Dcfcndant's criminal 

rcsl~onsibility ilnder Section 14.3(b) which applies whclhcs the crilllc "in 

fact occirrs or is attcmptecl." 

VII. VERIIICT AS REQUIIIEI> 13Y TRCP SEC. 39.3(c) 

80. I-Iaving considered all thc crcdiblc cvidence presented aL trial ancl thc 

rcasonablc infereilces that could bc drawn tl~erefrotn, thc I'anel found thc 

DeTendant gtiilty beyond a reasonable doubt, but pursuant to Section 39.1 

oS IJNTAE'T Reg. 2000/30, as anlcndcd by Reg. 3001/25, qualilicd the 

crinlc Sos which the Defetltlant bears individual criminal ~.csponsibility as 

an attempt to commit murder as a crimc against humanity. 

VIII. SENTENCING AS REQUIRED BY TRCP SEC. 39.3(Q 

A. Mitigatinz circurnstanccs 1 X 

8 1. The DeFendant returned from East Timor in July 2002 and allegedly has 

been living peacefully in his community since then. 

for his actions pursuant to Section 14.3(b) whether the crime that he ordered, solicited or induced "in fact 
occur<or is attempted." 

'"he Court does not consider as a significant mitigating circumstance the statement by counsel for the 
Defendant that his client felt "regret and sorrow" for the victim's family. When the trial began the 
Defendant explained that he did not wish to make a statement "because I have done nothing wrong." See 
Public Hearinn Record for 23 June 2004 (Morning Session) at p. 3 .  Similarly, the difficult family 
circurnstances of the Defendant cited by counsel are not unique and apply to an  even greater degree to the 
family of Domingos Nu Nu Alves. 



S2. 3'lic llcl2nclant and his 1\10 conScdcs:ltcs \\ere prolkssion:~l solcllcrs ant1 

mcmbc.~-s ol' Ihc 'I'N I .  c\s such, thc~ ,  !]:id a duty to pt.otcct and clcl21id thc 

civilian poj>ulation, not to at~nck i t .  

83. Thc I1clL.ndant and thc other 'l'N1 soldicss each carsiccl an AR-15 siflc. 

Each of' the tlircc lncn whom they arrested hacl a ~nnchelc, a tool 

commonly owilcd by many 'I'imorcsc. rI'lie psisoners wcl-c disarmccl 

immcclintcly upon thcir arrest. 

84. The Dcl'cndant iilitiatcd bca~iilg o r  tlic thrce prisoners in which thc other 

two TNI soldiers joincd. Thc beating was so sevcre that when Jcsus latcr 

arrivccl in thc mouiltains he was still bleeding. 

85. After thc Defendant and the other TNI soldiers forced the three prisollcrs 

out of the house, the Defendant set fire to the house. 

86. The three prisoners were forced to walk at gunpoint. When they were near 

the river, the Defendant fired a warning shot to scare them further. 

87. The Defendant's statement to Mautersa to shoot Alves was completely 

unprovolted. 

C.  Sentencing policy 

88. According to Sec. 10.1 (a) of UNTAET Regulation No. 2000115, in 

determining the terms of imprisonment for crimes charged ~ ~ n d e r  Sec. 5 of 

that regulation, the Court shall be guided by the sentencing practices of the 

coc~sts of East Tirnor and and also of international tribunals. bloreover. 



SO. l'hc penalty irnposcd on a clcScndant Sound guilty by the Special I'ancI 

scs\,cs scvcsal pi~sposcs. 

m, 1l1c pcnaliy is a l'orm of just rctsibution against the dcfcndant, on 

whom an appropriate punish~llc~lt n~ust be ilnposed for his crimc. 

Second, the penalty is to serve as a form of detcrrcncc to dissuacle others 

who may be Icmptccl in the Siiture to perpetrate such a crimc by showing 

them that serious violatioils of law and human rights shall not bc tolerated 

and shall be punishcd appropriately. 

Tl~ird, the prosecution and punishment of the perpetrators of serious 

criines co~llnlitted in East Ti~nor in 1999 promotes national reconciliation 

and the restoration of peace by bringing closure to such cases, 

discouraging private retribution and confirming the importallcc o l  the rule 

of law. 

90. The Court considered all the pertinent mitigating and aggravating 

circumstances as well as the above sentencing policy. It concludes that the 

sentence that it has imposed is proportionate both to the offence 

committed by the Defendant and the purposes served by sentencing in 

such a matter. 



1). Sen tencc  

01. IIa\ ill2 li)i~ntl tlic Dcli'nd;i~lt I I i ~ ~ l ~ l l i )  AIVCS Corscia ;11.;;1 "Atloll;," yui l [ \ ,  - 
bcyoncl :I lur~son;~blc doubt on tlic gsoi~nd that hc bcass indiviclual c~imin,ll 

rcsponsibility. as sct out in Scctinn 14.3(b) oS UNPfAIYl' Rcgul,ltion 

200011 5, li)s the attcmpt to murdcs Domingos Nil Nu /'\lvcs as n cl.irnc 

against Iii~manity; and 

92. Considering the argun~cnts of thc Prosecution and the DcCcnsc and thc 

hclors put forth at the sentencing hcaring, as  wcll as the 11cstincnt 

provisions of the Transitional Rules of Criminal Proced~~rc,  

93. On 19 April 2005, the Special Panel for Serious Crimes imposcd and 

announced the following sentence in public scssion at which the 

Defenda~it was present and reprcsentcd by counsel: 

A. SENTENCED the Defendant Ri~dolfo Alves Correia alta "AdolCo," in 

punishment for the crime of which he was convicted, to imprisonment for 

a term of five (5) years, and 

B. ORDEIIED the Defendant Rudolfo Alves Correia alta "AdolCo" to pay 

the costs of the  criminal procedure as provided in TRCP Sec. 39.3 (g) 

E. Credit for time served 

94. Pursuant to Section 10.3 of UNTAET Regulation 2000115 and TRCP 

Section 42.5, the Special Panel deducted the time spent in detention by thc 

Defendant. The Court was informed and believed that the defendant was 

held for a period of three (3) days following his arrest and before his 

release by an Investigating Judge of the Dili District Court. Accordingly, 
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I T .  Execution and  cnfol-ccn~cnt of  scntcrlce 

95. I'ursuant to 'l'RCI' Sections 42.1 and 42.6, thc Defendant was inllllecliately 

impriso~~cd on thc abovc sentcnce upon its imposition on 19 April 2005. 

Ilc shall spcllcl the dusr~tion oS the sentcncc in Timor-1,estc. 

9G. This sentence was inlposcd without prejudice to the Defendant's right to 

petition for his collditional release from incarceration pursuant to TRCI' 

Section 43 after he has completed two-thirds of' the term of his 

imprisonment. 

G. Final Decision and Appcal 

97. A copy of this final written decision shall be provided to the Defendant 

anci his legal counsel, the Public Prosccutor, and to the prison manager. 

98. The Defendant has the right to file (1) a notice of appeal within ten (10) 

days from the date of notification to him of this final written decision of 

the Court and (2) a written statement of appeal within the following thirty 

(30) clays pursuant to TRCP Sections 40.2 and 40.3. 
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Cri1nc.s sitting a[ t l ~ c  Const oI'i\ppcals l > \ ~ i l ~ t i n ~  in Caicoli, llili, by: 

.ludgc I'hillip I<apozn, 
I'rcsiding and Rapportcur 

Judgc Brigittc Schmid 

(Tlzr original of tlt e above Fi~znl Jrui~ment was renrlered in Englisll, which slrrrll be the 
rtutlturitaiive version) 


